IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



MAY 15 1984

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
Ву		vsl

LUIS ACOSTA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 65,214

KRACO, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

)

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SADOW, LYNNE AND GONZALEZ Attorneys for Petitioner 12550 Biscayne Boulevard Suite 603 North Miami, Florida 33181 Phone: (305) 895-6070

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LUIS ACOSTA was injured in a compensable, industrial accident, while working for KRACO, INC., on April 16, 1980. A claim was filed on July 3, 1980. A hearing was held before the Honorable Margarita Esquiroz on November 5, 1981. Appellant specifically challenged the constitutionality of Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., 1979.

The parties stipulated that temporary total disability benefits had been paid from April 16, 1980 through and including June 24, 1980 and that Appellant's average weekly wage was \$110.23, entitling him to a weekly compensation rate of \$73.49.

Deputy Commissioner Margarita Esquiroz entered an Order on December 14, 1981 awarding Appellant additional temporary total disability benefits from June 25, 1980 through September 3, 1980, along with statutory interest and penalties. Appellant's claim for wage loss benefits was denied solely due to Appellant's age, i.e. 68, pursuant to Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., 1979.

Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal, challenging the constitutionality of Section 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., Florida Statutes, 1979. The First District Court of Appeal, after hearing oral argument, entered an opinion on February 3, 1983, finding that Appellant did not have standing to challenge the constitutionality of Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., 1979. Due to certain factual deficiencies within the Deputy Commissioner's Order, the case was reversed and remanded for further proceedings consistent with the Court's opinion.

Deputy Commissioner Margarita Esquiroz entered an additional Order dated May 6, 1983, in accordance with the First District Court of Appeal's opinion. This Order again denied Appellant's claim for wage loss benefits solely due to Appellant's age, pursuant to Florida

Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., 1979.

Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal and formally moved that judicial notice of the Briefs filed in the first Appeal, i.e. Case No: AI-429, should be taken by the First District Court of Appeal in considering the current Appeal, i.e. Case No: AT-7.

Oral Argument was granted and on April 3, 1984, the First District Court of Appeal entered its Order finding Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., 1979, constitutional. The First District Court of Appeal certified the following question to the Supreme Court as one of great public importance: DOES SECTION 440.15(3)(b)3.d., FLORIDA STATUTES, 1979, VIOLATE THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION BECAUSE IT CONFLICTS WITH 42 U.S.C. SECTION 403 (f)(3)(1983)?

Appellant timely and properly petitioned this Honorable

Court and was granted an opportunity to submit Briefs on the merits.

The record on appeal will be referred to by using the letters "TR".

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

LUIS ACOSTA, now 70, was 67 when the accident occurred and 68 when wage loss was denied (TR8). Mr. Acosta received an 11th grade education in Cuba. He is fluent in Spanish, but does not understand, read nor speak English (TR8). He was receiving Social Security of approximately \$442.00, a month at the time of his accident with KRACO, INC., i.e. April 16, 1980. He had always worked since arriving in the United States on November 3, 1956, primarily as a baker (TR9). He has worked at The Embers, for nine years, and Royal Castle for seven years (TR10). While working for KRACO, INC., Appellant did clean-up work; swept, welded metal sheets, assisted in carrying metal sheets weighing approximately 300 pounds and carried blocks weighing approximately 70 to 80 pounds by himself (TR10). He had no problems lifting these metal sheets prior to his accident (TR10).

Appellant's accident occurred when he fell in an open hole injuring his knee, back and right arm (TR11). His salary was \$110.23. Initially, Appellant worked full time, but subsequently requested part time work due to the earning limitation placed upon himself by Social Security (TR12).

Mr. Acosta saw Dr. Hernandez immediately after his accident and received treatment including ultrasound and a prescription for pain medication (TR13).

Appellant's compensation checks stopped in June of 1980 although Appellant continued to see his doctor. Mr. Acosta felt that he was unable to work due to an inability to do any lifting (TR13,14). Sweeping also caused back pain (TR14). Upon being released to work by Dr. Hernandez, Appellant conducted a job search. He looked for part time and/or light work (TR14). Appellant searched for work as a

baker's helper (approximately 15 bakeries)(TR16).

Appellant testified that he is unable to lift heavy items, and has problems bending over (TR16). He feels he is unable to work as a baker due to the heavy lifting involved (50 - 100 pounds) (TR16). Mr. Acosta felt he was able to return to light work approximately $2\frac{1}{2}$ months prior to the November 5, 1981 Hearing, and is able to perform certain work at the present time (TR18). Although bakery work was available for him, he was unable to accept the job due to the job requiring him to pick up big pots, place them in the oven, and to pick up dough weighing approximately 50 pounds and throw it over on the table (TR17). Appellant's problem is in his back.

Dr. Pedro Hernandez testified that he first saw Appellant on April 17, 1980 and diagnosed a cervical and lumbar spine strain, trauma to the right leg. He initiated treatment in the form of hot packs, ultrasound and cervical traction (TR31). Dr. Hernandez felt Appellant had reached the plateau of maximum medical improvement on September 4, 1980, and assigned 6% permanent partial disability rating based on the AMA Guides (TR33). As of September 4, 1980, Dr. Hernandez still found muscle spasms in Appellant's lumbar region (TR33). Dr. Hernandez recommended that Appellant find a job which would not require him to stay for a long time in the same position. The doctor testified that Appellant has to move all of the time, sometimes sitting and sometimes walking. Appellant has to have light work. He cannot lift heavy objects from the floor. Said restrictions were due to the accident of April 16, 1980 (TR34). Dr. Hernandez stated that he would advise any 69 year old man to avoid heavy lifting (TR45).

Dr. Neal assigned a 5% permanent disability to Appellant.

ARGUMENT I

DOES SECTION 440.15(3)(b)3.d, FLORIDA STATUTES, 1979, VIOLATE THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION BECAUSE IT CONFLICTS WITH 42 U.S.C. SECTION 403(f)(3) AND 403(f)(1)(8), 1983?

The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, i.e. Article 6, Clause 2 states that:

"This Constitution and the laws of the United States which shall be made in pursuance thereof....shall be the Supreme Law of the Land..."

Although state law exercising State's traditional police powers, is not pre-empted on account of interference with Federal Law or policy unless that was the clear and manifest purpose of Congress, Courts are obligated under the Supremacy Clause to strike down state laws which stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress. Raskin vs. Moran, 684 F.2d 472 (1982). The undersigned believes that Congress did not intend to pre-empt the State of Florida from exercising its State power in the field of workers' compensation. Accordingly, in order to determine the applicability of the Supremacy Clause in this matter we have to evaluate and compare the purpose contained in Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d.,1979 with the purpose effectuated by Congress under 42 U.S.C. Section 403(f)(3) and 403(f)(1)(8) to determine if Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d. stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purpose and objectives of Congress.

Chapter 42, U.S.C. Section 403 covers reduction of insurance benefits payable under Section 402. 42 U.S.C. Section 403(f)(3) states:

"For purposes of paragraph (1) and subsection (h) of this section, an individual's excess earnings for taxable years shall be 50 per centum of his earnings for such year in excess of the product of the applicable exempt amount as determined under paragraph (8), multiplied by the number of months in such year, except that, in determining an individual's excess earnings for the taxable year for which he attains age 70, there shall be excluded any earnings of such individual for the month in which he attains such age and any subsequent month (with any net earnings or net loss from self-employment in such year being prorated in an equitable manner under regulations of the secretary. The excess earnings as derived under the preceding sentence, if not a multiple of one dollar, shall be reduced to the next lower multiple of one dollar. "

Mr. Acosta was 67 when the accident occurred and is currently 70 years old. He was and is receiving social security benefits. He is a member of the class protected under 42 U.S.C. Section 403.

Basically, 42 U.S.C. Section 403 allows an individual collecting social security benefits under Section 402 to supplement income received from social security with additional earnings.

Subsesction 403(f)(3) of the Social Security Act provides that in applying what is commonly known as the "Retirement Test" to reduce a Social Security recipient's benefits on account of specified earned income, any income earned after the recipient's 70th birthday will not be used to reduce benefits. The effect of this provision is that social security recipients will not suffer offset of their earnings against their benefits after they reach the age of 70.

Persons receiving benefits under 42 U.S.C. Section 402 who have not attained the age of 70 are also able to supplement their social security benefits pursuant to Section 403(f)(1)(8); the Retirement Test. Basically, this section allows individuals to receive social security retirement benefits and supplement their income as follows:

1979 - up to \$4,500 1980 - up to \$5,000 1981 - up to \$5,500 1982 - up to \$6,000 1983 - up to \$6,600 1984 - up to \$6,960

The amount of supplemental income allowed to be earned by an elderly person prior to reduction in social security has steadily increased. Once a recipient of social security retirement benefits exceeds the yearly amount of supplemental earnings, his social security benefits are reduced by a \$1 for every \$2 earned in supplemental income. The Federal policy evident from Section 403(f)(1)(8)is that persons over age 65 but not yet 70 should receive their full social security benefits regardless of the source or amount of other income earned as long as said income is not in excess of the amount allowable under the section. After exceeding the allowable amount said benefits should be reduced pursuant to the formula of the "Retirement Test". Congress wanted persons who were able to work past normal retirement age to be able to receive some return on their social security "investment". The aforementioned purpose of Congress can be further seen by the elimination of the "Retirement Test" as it applies to persons over age 70.

It has been held in <u>Cannon vs. Moran</u>, 331 NW2d 369, Wisconsin, 1983, that a statute which effectively deprives the recipient of Federal benefits by reducing Plaintiff's salaries in an amount precisely equal to the Federal benefits is in conflict with Section 403(f)(3). The Court in <u>Cannon</u> interpreted a Wisconsin statute which reduced Judges' salaries by the amount of pension benefits received as unconstitutional due to said statute being in conflict with the

Supremacy Clause. The Court noted that the Federal policy contained in the statutory section was to allow persons over the age 70 their full social security benefits. The Wisconsin salary deductions scheme conflicted with this intent. The Court specifically stated:

Surely the protections of the Federal Statute are thwarted when the Federal Government puts money in the Plaintiff's left pocket while Wisconsin takes a precisely equal amount of money from the right pocket solely because the money was received through the Social Security Program."

The Court in <u>Cannon</u> refers to <u>Raskin vs. Moran</u>, supra, where the Court stated that 42 USC Section 403(f)(3) together with pertinent statements of legislative history indicate:

"That Congress eliminated the "Retirement Test" recognizing that some persons were able to work past normal retirement age, but otherwise received no return on their social security "investment". The Federal policy evident from this Statute is that persons over age 70 should receive the full Federal benefits regardless of the source or amount of other income earned by the recipient. Although the SSA does not expressly preclude the application of state law which might incidently affect some aspect of social security, we have no doubt that a state statute which effectively denies benefits conferred by Section 403 would be suspect under the Supremacy Clause."

After analysis, the Wisconsin statute was found to be invalid since, although it did not directly prevent or impede Plaintiff's receipt of social security benefits, it effectively deprived the recipient of those Federal benefits by reducing Plaintiff's salary in an amount equal to the Federal benefits.

The Federal purpose contained within Section 403 of the Social Security Act to allow a recipient of Social Security benefits between the ages of 65 and 70 to receive benefits so long as earned income does not rise above the maximum level and to allow receipt of partial benefits after the maximum level, along with allowing those 70

or older to receive the full amount of benefits without regard to income earned, is thwarted by and is in direct conflict with Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d., 1979.

Section 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., Florida Statutes, 1979, states:

"the right to wage loss benefits shall terminate, when the injured employee reaches the age of 65."

The Florida Statute eliminates the right of an individual over 65 years old to obtain wage loss benefits. Wage loss benefits were created by the Legislature effective, August 1, 1979, as a substitute for disability benefits previously awarded. The purpose of the Statute is evident, i.e. restoration of wages lost.

The Court in <u>Carr vs. Central Florida Aluminum Products, Inc.</u>,
402 So.2d 565 (Florida 1st DCA, 1981) stated that:

". . . seen in a context of statutory purpose to compensate injured workers for actual wage loss rather than any longer for anatomical disability or loss of wage earning capacity, the legislature has in effect assumed that these designated injuries almost inevitably result in an economical loss of the sort the legislature determined to compensate."

This restoration of actual wages lost is a major component of workers' compensation. Dr. Larson has stated that:

"from the very beginning the heart of workers' compensation was the <u>restoration</u> of a portion of actual <u>lost</u> wages. When wages are interrupted a portion is replaced week by week..."

Wage loss is a substitute and/or replacement for actual wages and provides the injured worker with a source of income during his disability. Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d., 1979 barrs the 65 year old individual from collecting this source of income.

Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., similar to the Wisconsin

Statute, does not reduce social security benefits but reduces wage loss benefits (a source of income) totally. The total bar of a worker from receiving wage loss benefits deprives the worker between the ages of 65 and 70 the opportunity to supplement his social security benefits by receiving earned income or its substitute (wage loss benefits) in accordance with the Retirement Test. The 70 and older worker is deprived the right to supplement his social security benefits by the total income received through his labor or its substitute, i.e. wage loss benefits.

Raskin involved a statute which lowered wages by the exact amount received under the Social Security Law. The Florida Workers' Compensation Law, i.e. 440.15(3)(b)3.d., Florida Statutes, 1979, does not operate by reducing wage loss benefits in an amount equal to social security. There is no formula in the Florida Statute for said reduction. What actually takes place is that wage loss benefits are eliminated (total reduction). Since the elimination of wage loss benefits in 1979 is tied solely to age, said elimination is not related to Appellant receiving social security nor to the amount received. However, under the unique Florida wage loss system, replacement of lost earnings is being eliminated causing your Appellant to lose supplemental income. This violates the purpose of the Social Security Law in allowing Appellant to supplement his social security benefits. would seem to the undersigned that the elimination of entitlement to this replacement of lost wages stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of the Social Security Statute.

This premise is further supported by Congress' broad purpose

in establishing old age benefits. Social security was partially created to function as a public social insurance program which would protect aged workers and their dependents from their loss of income.

(Rosenberg vs. Richardson, 538 F.2d 487 (23 Cir. 1978). Congress eliminated the "Retirement Test" recognizing that some persons who were able to work past normal retirement age would otherwise receive no return on their social security investment. (Raskin v. Moran, supra). Similarly, allowing persons to earn certain income prior to reduction of social security benefits and only reducing social security benefits on a prorata share of income earned over the amount allowable would indicate an intention to allow workers such as your Appellant who are able to work to receive a partial return on their social security investment.

Congress did not intend receipt of Workers' Compensation benefits to reduce retirement benefits. The Social Security Law does not consider Workers' Compensation benefits as being wages. Chapter 42, U.S.C. Section 409, effective December 31, 1981 specifically excludes from the term "wages" payments which are received under a Workers' Compensation Law. Therefore, in actuality, there is no statutory authority in the Social Security Law allowing benefits to be reduced by amounts received under Workers' Compensation as it applies to old age retirement benefits under Subsection 402. Allowing a reduction (total elimination) of compensation due to a worker receiving social security benefits directly conflicts with the purpose of Congress. The money the Federal Government puts in Appellant's left pocket is being taken by the State from the right pocket. It is my sincere opinion that Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d. should be stricken as violative of

the Supremacy Clause.

The First District Court of Appeal in Acosta upheld the constitutionality of Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d. by stating:

"in view of the rationale of <u>Sasso</u>, we must conclude, that the valid purposes of Section 440.15(3)(b)3.d. are not directly related to preventing "double-dipping" and, accordingly, are not in controversion of the salutary purpose behind Section 403(F)(3) of the Social Security Act".

Section 403(f)(3) does not involve double-dipping. It involves old age retirement. Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b) 3.d, 1979 directly interferes with the intent of 403(f)(3) and 403(f)(1)(8) by taking away what the Federal Statute gives, i.e. the ability of the aged worker to have supplemental income.

The First District Court of Appeal in Acosta also stated:

"The Florida Statute in question does not specifically rely upon the receipt of Social Security benefits in mandating elimination of wage loss benefits to persons over the age of 65." (emphasis ours)

The First District Court in <u>Sasso vs. Ram Property Management</u>, 431 So.2d, (Fla. 1st DCA, 1983), states:

"Consequently, we view the 1979 version of the wage loss law as affecting only those who are at least 65 and collecting O.A.S.I." (emphasis ours).

Therefore, it seems that the Court in Acosta, limited the scope of the challenged statute while the Sasso Court expanded it.

Furthermore, the First District Court of Appeal in Acosta, concluded that the valid purposes of Section 440.15(3)(b)3.d. are not in controvention of the statutory purpose behind Section 440.13(f)3) of the Social Security Act.(emphasis ours). Case law clearly indicates that where a State Statute impedes the operation of the Federal Statute, the Court must strike the State Statute even if the "State Legislature"

in passing its law had <u>some purpose</u> in mind other than one of <u>frustration</u>." (<u>Perez vs. Campbell</u>, 402 U.S. 637.) The purpose is not limited only to <u>valid</u> purposes but to <u>all</u> purposes. In the case at bar, Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d. does not represent a mere inconsistency with the Federal Law but rather completely impedes the operation of the Federal Law and stands as an obstacle to the execution of the full purpose and objective of Congress in enacting said statute. Florida Statute 440.15(3)(b)3.d. must be stricken even if the valid purposes for its creation do not directly impede the operation of the Federal Law since the total effect of the Statute (even if not intended) does impede the operation of the Federal Law.

ARGUMENT II

WHETHER THE PROVISIONS OF FLORIDA STATUTE 440.15(3)(b) 3.d., 1979 AND VALID PURPOSES EFFECTUATED THEREBY VIOLATE THE FEDERAL SUPREMACY CLAUSE IN ARTICLE 6, UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION BY REASON OF CONFLICT WITH THE PROVISIONS, PURPOSE AND POLICY OF THE FEDERAL AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT 29 U.S.C., SECTION 621, et seq.

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