IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No: 65,214

LUIS	ACOSTA,	,
	Petitioner,	,
v.		,
	O, INC., and CORPORATE P SERVICE, INC., Respondents.	1

SID J. WHITE
JUN 4 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chier Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ADAMS, KELLEY & KRONENBERG Attorneys for respondents 2699 South Bayshore Drive Miami, Florida 33133 Telephone: (305) 856-8140

TOPICAL

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

Further, if the federal statute occupies only a limited portion of the subject matter being regulated, the state may enact legislation covering other aspects of the subject or supplement the federal legislation in respect to local conditions. Hancock v. Train, 426 U.S. 167, 176, 96 S.Ct. 2006, 2013, 48 L.Ed.2d 555 (1976):

Neither the Supremacy Clause nor the Plenary Powers Clause bars all state regulations which may touch the activities of the federal government.

The fact that state law may not be preempted simply because Congress has peripherally passed upon the area to be regulated was clearly set out by the United States Supreme Court in Huron Portland Cement Co. v. City of Detroit, 362 U.S. 440, 443, 80 S.Ct. 813,815, 4 L.Bd.2d 152 (1960):

In determining whether state regulation has been preempted by federal action 'the intent to supersede the exercise by the state of its police power as to matters not covered by the federal legislation is not to be inferred from the mere fact that Congress has seen fit to circumscribe its regulation and to occupy a limited field. In other words, such intent is not to be implied unless the act of Congress fairly interpreted is actual conflict with the law of the state'. Savage v. Jones, 225 U.S. 501, 533, 32 S.Ct. 715, 725, 56 L.Ed. 1182. See also Reid v. Colorado, 187 U.S. 137, 23 S.Ct. 92, 47 L.Ed. 108, Asbell v. Kansas, 209 U.S. 251, 28 S.Ct. 485, 52 L.Ed. 788, Welch v. New Hampshire, 306 U.S. 79, 59 S.Ct. 438, 500, Mauer v. L.Ed. Hamilton, 309 U.S. 598, 60 S.Ct. 726, 84 L.Ed. 969. (Emphasis added).

Pursuant to the rule delineated in <u>Huron Portland</u>
<u>Cement</u>, supra, the Supreme Court has also held that the con-

stitution recognizes the state's power to control its internal affairs and policy, and that state laws may even impose some burdens on the federal government. A state statute which incidentally bears upon a federal law is nonetheless valid. Penn Dairies v. Milk Control Commission of Pennsylvania, 318 U.S. 261, 63 S.Ct. 617, 87 L.Ed. 748 (1943). In fact, a state's statute of limitations governing the time frame within which to bring an action under the federal Fair Labor Kendall v. Keith Furnace Co., 162 Standards Act was upheld. F.2d 1002 (8th Cir. 1947); Swick v. Glen L. Martin Co., 160 F.2d 483 (4th Cir. 1947). And a state's regulation of the number of cars owned by a welfare recipient was held valid, despite Congress's intent to delineate welfare eligibility requirements by federal law. Woodman v. Wisconsin Department of Health and Social Services, 292 N.W.2d 352 (Wis. 1980).

Clearly then, the Supremacy Clause cannot preempt state law unless the statute being challenged: (a) is in direct and irreconcilable conflict with federal law; (b) violates a specific congressional intent to totally supervise the area being regulated; (c) encroaches upon a matter peculiarly of federal or national interest; and (d) does not at all pertain to a matter amenable to state regulation.

The preceding decisions delineate the parameters within which the Supremacy Clause may be invoked. They may be used in showing that F.S. §440.15(3)(b)3.d.(1979) does not

conflict with either the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act or the Social Security Act.

B. F.S. §440.15(3)(b)3.d.(1979) DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE FEDERAL AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) is found at 29 U.S.C. §621. The Act sets forth congressional declarations that older workers have found themselves disadvantaged to retain and regain employment; that the setting of arbitrary age limits has become a common practice and disadvantages older persons; that the incidence of unemployment is high among older workers and is increasing; and that the existence of arbitrary age discrimination burdens commerce and the free flow of goods in commerce. The Act also declares a congressional intent to promote the employment of older persons based on ability rather than age; to prohibit arbitrary age discrimination in employment; and to help employers and workers find ways of meeting problems arising from the impact of age on employment.

The First District Court of Appeal, in O'Neil v. Department of Transportation, 442 So.2d 961 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), correctly perceived that there is no conflict between the age 65 restriction on wage loss benefits and the ADEA. The O'Neil decision recognizes that the ADEA deals with arbitrary age discrimination related to personnel practices in the labor market - the hiring, displacement, and promotion of

Association of Broward County, 455 F.2d 1818 (5th Cir. 1972);

Macellaro v. Goldman, 643 F.2d 813 (D.C. Cir. 1980). Specifically, §621(a)(1) is directed toward the difficulty of older workers to retain and regain employment.

The decision in O'Neil correctly notes that §440.15 (3)(b)3.d. does not relate to any subject matter governed by the ADEA. The statute does not impair Congress's right to deal with discrimination in the hiring and firing of workers or personnel practices in the open labor market. The subject matter governed by the ADEA is purely within the control of the employer, himself, and is properly subject to federal supervision. However, the age 65 restriction mentioned in F.S. §440.15(3) merely limits the receipt of state workers' compensation benefits. As the court noted in O'Neil, the receipt of state workers' compensation benefits is not a matter which is within the control of the employer.

In addition, §440.15(3) (b) does not pass on or regulate the job performance of elderly workers. The state statute also does not relate to the actual employment of elderly workers nor does it prohibit elderly workers from continuing to work or seek work. The subject matters governed by the ADEA and F.S. §440.15(3)(b) are entirely different. federal statute governs the federal bailiwick of civil rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and age discrimination in industries engaged in interstate commerce under the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. It purports to regulate personnel practices in the labor market. The state statute is clearly within the state's discretion to oversee and limit entitlement to state workers' compensation benefits created at the behest of the state legislature. The two acts do not irreconcilably conflict.

Nor does F.S. §440.15(3)(b) invade a province which is peculiarly of national or federal interest. In addition, the ADEA expresses no congressional intent to supersede state laws which regulate benefits based on age. In the absence of such congressional intent and a clear showing that §440.15(3) (b) invades a province which is peculiarly of national or federal interest, the Supremacy Clause cannot be invoked to preempt the state statute.

Further, the ADEA merely prohibits the setting of arbitrary age limits in employment. In Sasso v. Ram Property Management, 431 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the court upheld §440.15(3)(b) against an attack based on the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution. In holding that the statute withstood equal protection scrutiny, the court rejected any contention that the age 65 restriction was arbitrarily set. If, indeed, the court did deem the age 65 restriction arbitrary, it would have been compelled to hold the statute unconstitutional as violative of equal protection tenets. In re: Estate of Greenberg, 390 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1980).

The remaining provisions of the ADEA also pose no conflict with §440.15. Under 29 U.S.C. §623, employers are prohibited from engaging in age discrimination when deciding to hire or fire a worker or in setting his pay or conditions of employment. Section 623 also applies to employment agencies and labor organizations, but Congress made no mention of the statute's applicability to a state benefits plan such as workers' compensation. Section 623 applies purely to personnel practices in the labor market, not receipt of state workers' compensation benefits.

However, the ADEA, §623, does allow employers, employment agencies, or labor organizations to determine age as a bona fide occupational qualification to establish a seniority or retirement system, or to discharge anyone for good cause regardless of age. In fact, in Masschusetts Board of Retirement v. Murgia, 427 U.S. 307, 96 S.Ct. 2562, 49 L.Ed.2d 520 (1976), the United States Supreme Court held that state laws which set a mandatory retirement age may be upheld regarding certain occupations, despite the effect of the ADEA.

Section 630 of the ADEA enumerates those persons affected by the Act. A state workers' compensation system is nowhere to be found in the definitions within the Act's regulatory scheme. In fact, a state pilotage commission was held not to be an employer under the ADEA since the commission was not engaged in an industry affecting interstate commerce.

Adams v. Leatherbury, 388 So.2d 510 (Ala. 1980). In addition, the Alabama Supreme Court in Adams held that regulation of state pilots and their retirement was an area reserved exclusively to the state. The ADEA did not specifically preclude the state from regulating the area. Thus, the ADEA was in harmony with the state statute governing the retirement age of state pilots. The decision in Adams may be extended to any state agency which administers a benefits plan promulgated by the state legislature.

Thus, in the instant case, the Florida Department of Labor, Divison of Labor and Employment Security, Division of Workers' Compensation, is not within the class of persons intended to be regulated by the ADEA.

rederal case law has also held that the ADEA does not exclusively regulate the use of age limits in setting the terms and conditions of employment. In fact, the states are permitted to regulate age limits on hiring if such limits are rationally related to a legitimate state purpose. Arritt v. Grisell, 432 F.Supp. 800 (N.D. W.Va. 1976), aff'd in part, rev'd on other grounds, 567 F.2d 1267 (4th Cir. 1977). Thus, the ADEA does not supersede state laws which pass upon age restrictions in employment if those restrictions relate to a valid state interest. Even assuming, without conceding, that the age 65 restriction relates to personnel practices in employment, the Sasso decision held that the restriction does relate to a legitimate state interest and is, therefore,

constitutional. Consequently, the ADEA does not supersede \$440.15(3)(b)3.d.(1979).

Most importantly, there is no statement of congressional intent in the ADEA which bars the State of Florida from regulating receipt of state workers' compensation benefits based on age. The key decision which allows the State of Florida and any other state to regulate and set limits on the entitlement to workers' compensation benefits is Richardson v. Belcher, 404 U.S. 78, 92 S.Ct 254, 30 L.Ed.2d 231 (1971). In Richardson, the United States Supreme Court clearly stated that it was Congress's intent to leave the administration of workers' compensation programs to the states. Thus, the State of Florida was well within its power in passing §440.15(3)(b) 3.d. as a valid restriction on receipt of state workers' compensation benefits.

There is also nothing in the ADEA which prevents the states from administering operations which are within their bailiwick. In EEOC v. Wyoming, U.S. _______, 103
S.Ct. 1054, 75 L.Ed.2d 18 (1983), the Supreme Court held that the ADEA did not violate the Tenth Amendment by encroaching on matters reserved exclusively to the states. At issue was Wyoming's statute forcing retirement of game wardens at the age of 55. The statute was held not to be in conflict with the ADEA. The court noted that the ADEA did not impair the state's right to oversee its traditional governmental function, one of which included the management of state parks. The

court stated that the ADEA did not constitute a "federal intrusion" into the state's domain. Under the EEOC decision, the State of Wyoming was free to promulgate its mandatory retirement statute without fear of conflict with the ADEA. The statute, in effect, could co-exist with the ADEA since retirement of game wardens was peculiarly a state function. In addition, the court in EEOC noted that the ADEA does not prevent a state from using its ". . . discretion to achieve its goals in the way it thinks best . . ." 103 S.Ct. at 1062 (Court's emphasis).

The decision in <u>EEOC</u> is directly applicable to the instant case. The management of workers' compensation plans is also a function reserved to the states. <u>Richardson</u> v. <u>Belcher</u>, supra. Accordingly, the ADEA cannot intrude upon the state's right to oversee and limit entitlement to receipt of workers' compensation benefits. Under the <u>EEOC</u> decision, such an intrusion cannot be intended by the ADEA. F.S. §440.15 (3)(b)3.d. is a valid exercise of state power. Consequently, the ADEA and §440.15(3)(b) may co-exist.

The petitioner has argued that the ADEA conflicts with F.S. §44015.(3)(b)3.d. because the federal statute was intended to prohibit the retirement of elderly workers, while the court's decision in <u>Sasso</u>, supra, endorses compulsory retirement as one of the purposes of §440.15(3)(b). However, the petitioner has misconstrued the congressional intent of the ADEA. The ADEA was not intended to prevent younger people

from ever getting started in employment nor was its purpose to necessarily prevent retirement of elderly workers. In <u>Brennan</u> v. <u>Paragon Employment Agency, Inc.</u>, 356 F.Supp. 286 (S.D.N.Y. 1973), aff'd, 489 F.2d 752 (2nd Cir. 1974), the court indicated that the ADEA was intended merely to prevent job discrimination against the elderly:

The purpose of the Act was to prevent persons aged 40 to 65 from having their careers cut off by unreasonable prejudice. It was not intended to prevent their children or grandchildren from ever getting started. There is nothing in the Act authorizes Labor of Secretary employers from prohibit encouraging young persons whether or not in college to turn from idleness to I find useful endeavor. such encouragement to be in the public interest . . . Id. at 288-289.

In the absence of an irreconcilable conflict between the ADEA and §440.15(3)(b), the federal statute does not supersede the state statute and the Supremacy Clause cannot be invoked. Since §440.15(3)(b)3.d. does not conflict with any of the provisions of the ADEA and governs matters which are peculiarly of state interest, the Supremacy Clause is inapplicable. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal must be approved and affirmed.

C. F.S. §440.15(3)(b)3.d.(1979) DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE FEDERAL SOCIAL SECURITY ACT

Under 42, U.S.C. §402(a), a person is entitled to old age and survivors' benefits (OASI) when he: (a) applies for the benefits; (b) has attained the age of 62; and (c) is fully insured. Clearly, §440.15(3)(b)3.d. does not at all interfere with that process. It merely suspends one class of state workers' compensation benefits at the age of 65.

In addition, any offset provision in 42 U.S.C. §402(k)(2)(B) is inapplicable to wage loss benefits for a 65 year old since wage loss benefits are automatically suspended at the age of 65. However, §440.15(3)(b) in no way limits or prohibits an employee's receipt of OASI. As the court noted in Sasso, supra, workers' compensation disability benefits are wholly different from Social Security retirement benefits and are not interrelated in any way. Sasso, 431 So.2d at 218. The Sasso decision also notes that the purposes of the two benefits are distinct and do not overlap. The fact that the two benefit systems have no commonality eliminates any potential conflict between the state workers' compensation system and the federal Social Security retirement plan.

Section 403 of the Social Security Act allows the deduction of earned income from Social Security benefits, but has no bearing on state workers' compensation benefits. In fact, the congressional intent of this reduction was to reduce the cost of the Social Security System and promote retirement.

Ludeking v. Finch, 421 F.2d 499 (7th Cir. 1970). According to the decision in Sasso, these are the same purposes served by \$440.15(3)(b)3.d. Therefore, the intent of \$403 of the Social Security Act is identical to the legislative intent of \$440.15(3)(b)3.d. Thus, no conflict exists between those two statutory provisions.

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